
Y Pwyllgor Cymunedau, Cydraddoldeb a Llywodraeth 
Leol 

 

Lleoliad: 
Ystafell Bwyllgora 3 - Y Senedd 

 

 

 

Dyddiad: 
Dydd Mercher, 23 Tachwedd 2011  

 

Amser: 
09:15 

 

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth, cysylltwch â:  

Marc Wyn Jones 
Clerc y Pwyllgor 
029 2089 8120 / 029 2089 8120 
pwyllgor.CCLll@wales.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 
 

 

09.15 - 09.30 Cyfarfod preifat cyn y prif gyfarfod 

1. Cyflwyniadau, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon   

2. Ymchwiliad i ddarpariaeth tai fforddiadwy   

 
Y Ffederasiwn Adeiladwyr Cartrefi a'r Sefydliad Cynllunio Trefol Brenhinol 
(09.30 - 10.20) (Tudalennau 1 - 27) 
CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 1 
CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 2 
 
Richard Price, Cynghorwr Cynllunio a Pholisi – Cymru, Ffederasiwn Adeiladwyr 
Cartrefi 
Andrew Crompton, Cyfarwyddwr Tir Rhanbarthol, Persimmon Homes 
Dr Roisin Willmott, Cyfarwyddwr Cenedlaethol, y Sefydliad Cynllunio Trefol Brenhinol  
 

Egwyl (10.20 - 10.30) 

 
Cymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru (10.30 - 11.20) (Tudalennau 28 - 37) 
CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 3 
 
Steve Thomas, Prif Weithredwr  

Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus



Y Cynghorydd Dyfed Edwards, Llefarydd Tai CLlLC ac Arweinydd Cyngor Gwynedd 
(drwy gyswllt fideo)  
Sue Finch, Swyddog Polisi Tai CLlLC 
 
 

Llywodraeth Cymru (11.20 - 12.05) (Tudalennau 38 - 45) 
CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 4 
 
Huw Lewis AC, Y Gweinidog Tai, Adfywio a Threftadaeth 
Ceri Breeze, Pennaeth Y Gyfarwyddiaeth Dai 
Rhidian Jones, Uwch-swyddog Tai Fforddiadwy 
 

1. Papurau i'w nodi 
3.   (Tudalennau 46 - 53)  
CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 5 
 
Gwybodaeth atodol o’r cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 19 Hydref oddi wrth y Gweinidog 
Busnes, Menter, Technoleg a Gwyddoniaeth. 
 
CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 6 
 
Gwybodaeth atodol o’r cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 19 Hydref oddi wrth y Gweinidog 
Addysg a Sgiliau. 
 
CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 7 
 
Gwybodaeth atodol o’r cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 5 Hydref oddi wrth Awdurdodau 
Heddlu Cymru 
 
CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 8 
 
Gwybodaeth atodol o’r cyfarfod a gynhaliwyd ar 3 Tachwedd oddi wrth Shelter Cymru 
 
CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 9 
 
Gohebiaeth oddi wrth y Comisiwn Bil Iawnderau  



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

 

Dear sir/madam, 

Please find below our comments in relation to the Inquiry into the provision of affordable 

housing in Wales. 

Question 1 - The effectiveness of public subsidy in delivering affordable housing, 

in particular Social Housing Grant 

In is clear that the availability of public subsidy plays a significant role in helping to 

deliver affordable housing.  In terms of Social Housing Grant, if you study the content of 

the various Affordable Housing Viability Assessments (AHVAs) that have been 

undertaken by local authorities, the availability of SHG plays a significant role in 

ensuring development schemes remain viable for the delivery of affordable housing.  

For example, the Torfaen Affordable Housing Viability Assessment states that the 

availability of public subsidy in the form of Social Housing Grant can have a significant 

impact on scheme viability. It goes on to state that SHG given to the affordable housing 

providers enables them to pay more for affordable housing units, thus increasing overall 

scheme revenue and therefore the residual value of a mixed tenure scheme. The 

results of the assessment clearly show that when SHG is provided, the potential level of 

affordable housing secured increases substantially, particularly in areas with lower 

house prices/land values. 

The Torfaen AHVA goes on to conclude that use of Social Housing Grant in locations 

such as the North Torfaen and Cwmbran North & West is critical if affordable housing is 

to be delivered in any significant numbers. This conclusion however, is not limited to 

Torfaen and can be found in many of the Affordable Housing Viability Assessments 

undertaken by local authorities. The availability of SHG is a key driver to increasing the 

provision of affordable housing and makes huge difference to scheme viability. 

Furthermore, given the extent of current and proposed planning obligations and 

regulatory requirements being imposed on developments, coupled with the effects of 

Welsh Government Inquiry into the provision of affordable housing 14/11/2011 

Eitem 2a

Tudalen 1



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

the economic downturn,  the delivery of significant numbers of affordable housing in the 

future will be even more reliant on some form of public subsidy, in order to ensure 

development viability is not adversely affected. We discuss the issue of development 

viability and its relationship to the delivery of affordable housing in a later section. 

In terms of further issues with respect to delivery, without the availability of public 

subsidy, the cost of providing affordable housing on mixed development sites is also 

proving to be a huge issue, particularly with respect to current ACG values. With ACG 

values set at 42% (and in some cases even lower) the sale value of the affordable 

housing unit to the RSL does not cover the build cost of the property, which means 

private housing sales will also need to part fund the build cost of the affordable units. In 

many cases, particularly where affordable housing percentages are high, this effectively 

equates to roughly half the site producing a negative impact on the land value, with the 

remainder having to fund the total section 106 package, including the requirements of 

National Guidance. Our members state that this is having a detrimental impact on 

residual values, even in attractive areas such as Cardiff, with lower value areas being 

substantially affected. In turn this is causing landowners to hold back bringing their land 

to the market, whilst they consider their options or wait for land values to increase. 

Therefore, without the availability of public subsidy, it is clear that increasing (or even 

continuing) the delivery of affordable housing in many areas of Wales will be extremely 

difficult. 

We are fully aware of the limited availability of SHG in the years to come. Our 

discussions with local authorities, Welsh Government and RSL’s all point to the 

conclusion that SHG is on a downward spiral and is unlikely to be readily available in 

the future. This is obviously a huge concern. However, we have also been made aware 

(although somewhat anecdotally) that where SHG is to be made available, it should only 

be used for the delivery of 100% affordable housing sites. We believe this would be a 

rather punitive restriction to impose, given the need for affordable housing across 

Wales. Surely the delivery of affordable housing should be based on need and the 

location of that need, and the fact that the site is proposed for 100% affordable housing 

or for a mix of tenures should be irrelevant.  

As a potential solution to the above, we would ask the Committee to consider the 

possibility of private developers in Wales being able to bid for public subsidy such as 

SHG for use on their own developments. This would enable developers to provide 

Tudalen 2



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

affordable housing units directly on their sites, whilst ensuring best value is made of any 

public subsidies provided. 

Questions 2 and 3 

2. Whether alternatives to public subsidy are being fully exploited; 

3. Whether the Welsh Government, local authorities and RSLs are effectively 

utilising their powers to increase both the supply of, and access to, affordable 

housing; 

We discuss issues with regard to these two questions below. 

Alternatives to public subsidy 

As we have discussed above, the availability of public subsidy will be limited going 

forward and therefore, it is clear the Welsh Government must consider alternative ways 

to ensure homes are made more affordable to the people of Wales.  

In the current economic climate the delivery of housing is being compromised by a 

variety of constraining factors, with mortgage availability being a critical one. In 

response to this, the Chancellor of the Exchequer allocated £250 million at the last 

Budget in order to create the FirstBuy scheme. FirstBuy is aimed at helping first time 

buyers get onto the property ladder by providing an equity loan of up to 20% of the 

purchase price split equally between the government and the housebuilder, with 

purchasers being required to raise funding (a mortgage plus deposit) of at least 80% of 

the purchase price. This allows first time buyers to bridge the ‘deposit gap’, and also 

allows lenders to offer products to purchasers at sensible interest rates.  

In the UK, FirstBuy will assist nearly 10,500 purchasers over the next two years and our 

members are using the scheme with some considerable success. Preliminary reports 

show that the house building industry took over 1000 reservations in first few weeks and 

this momentum will continue to grow. However, in Wales, the situation is somewhat 

different. Even though the Chancellor allocated £12 million to Wales specifically for 

FirstBuy, we have been advised by the Welsh Government that the scheme will not be 

introduced and the funding will be used for a different purpose, (potentially not housing 

related) to be determined at a later date.  

We were obviously extremely disappointed at this decision, as we believe the 

Tudalen 3



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

introduction of FirstBuy in Wales could have helped over 1000 First Time Buyers onto 

the property ladder. The knock on effects of this could also have been considerable, 

given the essential role the first time purchaser plays in kickstarting the delivery of 

potential housing sites. 

In light of the above, we believe a significant opportunity has been missed by the Welsh 

Government not introducing FirstBuy into Wales and we would urge the Government to 

reconsider the use of the funding provided by the Chancellor in order to adopt the 

scheme in Wales. We would also urge the Government to consider how the £38.9 

million in consequential funding (gained as a result of the Council Tax Freeze in 

England), could be used to help fund FirstBuy in Wales. The First Minister has made 

clear that the consequential funding would be used to create jobs and facilitate growth 

and therefore, we believe support of FirstBuy would provide an excellent opportunity to 

ensure these aims are achieved. To put this into context, with every new home built 

there are 1.5 full-time jobs directly created as a result, with a further 2/3 jobs created in 

the supply chain. Therefore, if we were able to build 1000 new homes in Wales from the 

adoption of First Buy, it would have the potential to create 1500 full time jobs directly in 

the construction industry and a further 2000 (plus) jobs in the supply chain. In addition 

to this, given that every £1 spent on housebuilding generates nearly £3 in economic 

activity, the benefits of adopting FirstBuy in Wales to the economy and employment are 

clearly significant. 

In addition to the above, we have also been made aware that, given its initial success, 

the UK government is considering extending FirstBuy in the UK in order to further 

stimulate the market. As such, we believe it is critical the Welsh Government acts 

promptly to adopt the FirstBuy scheme in Wales, in order to ensure first time buyers in 

Wales do not suffer adversely with respect to their counterparts in the rest of the UK. 

Further Alternative Approaches – Increasing Housing Supply  

We believe it is important not to lose sight of what we are trying to achieve when 

providing affordable housing i.e, ensuring we provide mixed and balanced communities 

and essentially, ensuring housing is made more affordable to more people. In light of 

this, we believe it is important to ensure that we achieve these aims when planning for 

housing in Wales.  

In terms of the provision of housing, we agree that the requirement for affordable 

Tudalen 4



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

housing is great and needs to be addressed. However, we believe the real solution to 

affordability lies with providing more homes for everyone, and not just those that qualify 

for affordable housing. We also believe that without a strong and competitive private 

housing sector, the delivery of affordable housing would be adversely affected. We 

believe that by increasing overall supply in the housing market, you not only help to 

solve the problem of rising house prices, you also increase the opportunity to deliver 

more affordable homes via the planning system. Therefore, in order to ensure we 

address the housing affordability problems people face in Wales at present, a holistic 

approach is required that places the delivery of market housing on an equal policy 

footing to that of the delivery of affordable homes and recognises the contribution the 

private sector makes to affordable solutions.  

Through the LDP system in Wales, we are already witnessing local authorities trying to 

allocate lower housing numbers than those predicted within the population and 

household projections and therefore at present, it seems the problem will only get 

worse. National guidance therefore needs to take a strong leadership role and provide 

local authorities with robust guidance to state that increasing the number of homes we 

build in Wales is a national priority and should be reflected within each LDP strategy. 

This, we believe, is the only way we will begin to tackle the housing shortage properly 

and start to deliver on the commitment to provide more homes, of the right type, for 

everyone in Wales. 

Definition of Affordable Housing and the ‘affordability gap’ 

We believe the definition of ‘affordable housing’ needs to be reconsidered. At present, 

we believe there is a growing ‘affordability gap’ in Wales. Given the narrow focus of the 

affordable housing definition and the way in which the housing market has changed 

over the last decade, we believe there is a growing band of people who do not qualify 

for affordable housing, but also cannot afford to access private market housing. 

Therefore, we believe research must now be undertaken to identify the extent of this 

‘affordability gap’ and to consider how best we can address it through National and local 

policy approaches. In our view, it seems that the constant over-reliance on the provision 

of affordable housing to solve our housing problems will only make this particular 

situation worse and therefore we need to consider the needs of the entire housing 

market when planning for the provision of housing in Wales. 

In addition to increasing the supply of housing in general, we believe in the short term 

Tudalen 5



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

the definition of affordable housing could also be widened in order to ensure we meet 

the needs of the entire housing market. Our members have innovative products that can 

help to deliver more affordable housing to prospective customers, however, all too often 

the definition of ‘affordable housing’ prevents these products from being utilised in the 

proposed housing mix. If it would benefit the Committee, we would be more than willing 

to explore this issue in more detail with our members, in order to provide examples of 

how their own products could help provide more affordable homes to more people in 

Wales. 

The risks to the delivery of housing and affordable housing - The Cumulative 

Impact of Regulation 

We have discussed the issue of cumulative impact of regulation with the Welsh 

Government consistently since the start of the recession.  Our concern is that despite 

widespread recognition of the problems we are all facing at present, the cost and 

regulation on housing development seems to be increasing, with a continued 

expectation that these costs can simply be absorbed by land values.  

The recent recession has had a damaging effect not only on land values in Wales, 

where in many areas we have witnessed falls of up to 50% of their previous values, but 

has also had a marked impact on the availability of finance for house purchasers, 

particularly for first time buyers. The cumulative impact of these issues has had a 

catastrophic effect on the housebuilding industry in Wales, with many housebuilding 

companies having to reduce in size dramatically and some unfortunately going into 

administration altogether.  However, despite this, we are now witnessing a surge in 

planning obligations and other requirements from local authorities and the Welsh 

Government, which we have not experienced in the past.  

For example, proposed change to Part L of building regulations on energy and carbon 

efficiency could potentially add nearly £20,000 to the build cost of each new home in 

Wales. This change is due to be implemented in 2013 and has the potential to wipe out 

the positive land values needed to undertake development in many areas of Wales, 

particularly those areas that require regeneration and wider investment. In this context, 

it also important to note that such a requirement within such a short timescale is not 

proposed for England and could therefore put investment in housebuilding, and indeed 

the economy, in Wales at a clear competitive disadvantage. 

Tudalen 6



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

A further example can be seen with the current proposal to require the installation of fire 

sprinklers in all new homes, which has the potential to add more than £5,000 to the 

build cost of each new home in Wales. The proposal makes the assumption that there 

would be little impact on development viability, despite not properly considering the 

costs associated with delivery and also not making any attempt to ascertain how the 

cost might impact on development viability in light of the plethora of other regulatory 

requirements and their associated costs. For information, again this is another 

requirement on housing development that is not being proposed in England. 

In terms of the risks to the delivery of affordable housing, we must consider the nature 

of the planning obligation(s) and/or regulation(s) being required. In the context of 

delivering housing development on the ground, it is clear there will be requirements of 

any development that will need to be met to ensure it can be physically delivered. In 

most cases these requirements come in two forms, the physical constraints of a 

development that need to be resolved, and planning obligations or regulatory 

requirements that are essential and must be adhered to.  

In terms of the requirement to remediate site constraints, it is important to recognise that 

these are physically required to deliver the site and therefore cannot be renegotiated to 

make the site more cost effective and viable. The same can be said for the 

requirements of building regulations. The requirements of building regulations (the 

changes to Part L and fire sprinklers) would be required by law and are outside the 

planning process and therefore, they also cannot be renegotiated in order to make a 

site more cost effective and viable. As such, when considering the delivery of affordable 

housing, it is vital that the substantial cost of these requirements is taken into account 

and the corresponding impact on the residual land values is assessed, in order to 

ensure the remaining residual land value would be sufficient in order to facilitate the 

delivery of affordable housing. 

In addition to the above, we must also consider the various other planning obligations 

that are required on development sites. All too often we hear planning authorities 

declare that they will reconsider their ‘other planning obligations’ to prioritise the delivery 

of affordable housing, however, this is clearly not as straightforward as it seems. For 

example, if we consider the ‘big ticket’ items in terms of planning obligations, such as 

transport requirements and education, it is unlikely that these will be sacrificed for the 

delivery of affordable housing, given that in most cases transport infrastructure will be 

Tudalen 7



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

required in order to physically deliver the site and education provision would be seen as 

a more important planning requirement by most local authorities. As such, it is clear that 

when we assess the ability for most local authorities to reconsider their priorities in order 

to deliver more affordable housing, the scope to actually achieve this is relatively 

limited. As a consequence of this, the planning obligations that remain as options for re-

prioritisation might not be substantial enough to relinquish the necessary capital in order 

to ensure the development remains viable whilst delivering the stated affordable 

housing requirement. Therefore, in many cases it is the affordable housing requirement 

itself that must be reduced, in order to ensure the development is capable of being 

delivered. 

As you can see from the above, given that the requirements of site remediation and 

building regulations (which will require huge subsidies from land values) are outside the 

scope of negotiation on planning applications, and given that the major planning 

obligations requirements would also need to be considered before the delivery of 

affordable housing, it is clear that the delivery of affordable housing will be 

compromised in the future, despite claims that it is will take centre stage. In addition to 

this, it is also clear that due to these other ‘essential’ requirements, the residual value 

left in land transactions will be extremely limited and therefore the potential for the 

delivery of affordable housing, along with other non essential (but still important) 

planning obligations will become more increasingly difficult.  

At present there seems to be an attitude from those proposing new requirements that 

their particular requirement will not affect viability. Affordable housing requirements are 

rising to unprecedented levels and we are now witnessing policies being adopted 

requiring up to 70% affordable housing in some areas. In this respect, if we do not 

consider the impact of this on development viability, along with the issues described 

above, we risk a situation whereby the affordable housing policies themselves could be 

directly responsible for hindering the delivery of affordable housing. We understand that 

affordable housing policies are negotiable, however, we are concerned that unless 

Welsh Government departments and local authorities are more realistic with their 

requirements, the provision of housing in Wales, including affordable housing, is likely to 

be seriously adversely affected, which will obviously have wider social impacts and also 

a negative impact on the economy and the way Wales is able to recover from the 

recession. 

Tudalen 8



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

In order to highlight the above, we have attached a report outlining the potential 

cumulative impact of planning and other regulation (current and proposed) on land 

values in various areas of Wales. This report has been circulated widely to Welsh 

Government Ministers and Officials and has been the subject of much discussion. 

However, for the Committee’s benefit, we have provided a copy with our submission, in 

order to highlight the extent of the problem.  We would be more than happy to explain 

any aspect of this report at our oral evidence session. 

4. Whether there sufficient collaborative working between local authorities, 

RSLs, financial institutions and homebuilders; 

Our members believe collaboration between RSLs and the house building industry 

could be improved. Our members indicate that the way in which consortiums of RSL’s 

have been formed in Wales limit’s the scope for competition, particularly where there is 

no SHG on offer. In this context, when discussions have started with an RSL, other 

RSL’s are then very reluctant to become involved if the developer is unhappy with the 

proposed contract value. This issue of competition has been brought up by a number of 

our members, who feel they should not be (indirectly) forced to work with certain RSL’s 

merely because they are favoured by a certain Local Authority. Our members believe 

they should be able to tender their potential affordable housing plots to RSL’s in order to 

secure the best deal for both parties, however, the system seems to prevent this.  

In order to caveat the above with some positivity, although it would be fair to say 

developers and RSL’s do engage in dialogue over the delivery of affordable housing, we 

believe the system of affordable housing provision could be altered to enable this 

exchange to be more equitable.  

In addition to the this, we would ask the Committee to consider how RSL’s might be 

able to secure finance on their existing assets in order to help fund the delivery of 

affordable housing, particularly in instances where Social Housing Grant is not 

available.  

In terms of more collaborate working with financial institutions, we believe this is a 

question best answered by the Council for Mortgage Lenders. However, in many cases, 

the various caveats that exist in Section 106 agreements and differences in the way in 

which financial models for the delivery of affordable units are structured, often make it 

extremely difficult for people to obtain mortgages on affordable housing units. This 

Tudalen 9



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

clearly needs to be addressed, particularly if there are affordable units built, but the 

relevant people cannot access them. Again, we could provide examples from our 

members where they have experienced difficulties in this regard, if the Committee 

wishes to explore this issue further. 

5. Whether innovative methods of delivering affordable housing such as 

Community Land Trusts or co-operatives could be promoted more effectively by 

the Welsh Government 

The HBF in Wales has no direct experience with the above concepts and we would 

therefore not wish to comment on their potential success (or otherwise). However, we 

would be more than willing to engage with the Welsh Government in order to identify 

whether or not these initiatives could provide sensible and workable solutions to the 

delivery of affordable housing in Wales. 

(Cont...) 

Thank you for taking the time to consult the HBF at this stage of the process and I look 

forward to working with you in the future. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Richard Price 

Planning and Policy Advisor – Wales 

Home Builders Federation 
PO Box 2512 
Cardiff 
CF23 0GB 
 
Tel - 02920 751076 
Mob - 07770 752884 
E-mail - richard.price@hbf.co.uk 

Tudalen 10



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Introduction 

What follows is an example of how the cumulative impact of planning and other obligations can affect 

land values in various local authorities in Wales. The report aims to demonstrate the impact of current 

and future regulations, across a number of local authority areas in Wales, using data taken directly from 

studies undertaken by each local authority. The example areas we have used are Bridgend, Caerphilly, 

Merthyr, Monmouthshire and RCT, as these local authorities have all undertaken Affordable Housing 

Viability Assessments (using similar methodologies), in order to assess the impact of affordable housing 

requirements on land values within their respective authority areas. From these assessments, it is 

possible to illustrate the impact of affordable housing requirements, together with the impact of current 

development requirements and future regulations (planning and otherwise) on land values, and hence on 

the viability of housing development as a result. 

Methodology 

The source data has been taken from the Affordable Housing Viability Assessments undertaken by each 

local authority in collaboration with the Three Dragons consultancy, which follow a ‘residual valuation 

approach’. In essence this methodology can be explained as follows:- 

• Assumed Gross Development value of the site (the total sales revenue) 

o Minus 

• Development costs (Build Costs, Finance Costs, Overheads etc) 

o Minus 

• Developer Profit 

o Minus 

• Section 106 Contributions (Affordable Housing, Education, Transport, Open Space, Public 

Art etc) 

o Equals 

• Final Residual Value 

Crucially, the Final Residual Value must be sufficient to incentivise the land owner to sell their particular 

piece of land for development, otherwise the scheme will not go ahead. 

 

 

 

2/3/2011 Residual Land Values and the Cumulative Impact of Regulation 

Tudalen 11



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

The following diagram is given within each affordable housing viability assessment to illustrate the 

process. 

 

Within each assessment, the above methodology is used to achieve a net residual land value, however, 

in order to demonstrate the impact of future policies, regulation and other requirements on this value, it 

will be necessary to include additional data into the assessment.  

• Site abnormals and remediation 

Firstly, it is important to point out that the affordable housing viability assessment methodology is carried 

out using a notional one hectare site that is free from any abnormals or site remediation requirements. 

Therefore, given that most local authorities within the list above are expecting the majority of their housing 

to come from previously developed land, it will be necessary to include a cost for site remediation works. 

In this respect, I have included within the assessment the average cost per acre of remediating site 

abnormals as provided by HBF members. The value is given as £250,000 per acre or £617,500 per 

hectare. 

• WAG policy and proposed regulations 

Next, it is important to recognise that the viability assessments do not take into account the effect of 

future policy and regulatory proposals, such as the proposed changes to building regulations and also the 

potential requirement for fire sprinklers. The viability assessments do undertake some sensitivity testing 

for various scenarios, however, they do not tackle these specific WAG’s proposals and therefore, the cost 

of these requirements will need to be included within the analysis. The values we have used are as 

follows:- 

• Building Regulations Changes - £20,000 per plot 

• Fire Sprinklers - £5,000 per plot. 

Tudalen 12



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

These values have been discussed in detail with the WAG and the development industry and are agreed 

to be correct approximations. 

• Other Section 106 requirements 

Before we move onto the results, it is important to discuss the issue of Other Section 106 contributions. 

Within each affordable housing viability assessment, the local authority needs to make an assumption of 

what section 106 obligations will be required other than the requirement for affordable housing, and 

assign a cost to those requirements for use within the assessment. In this context, the ‘other section 106’ 

costs assumed by each local authority within their respective assessments are given below:- 

• Bridgend - £5000 per plot 

• Caerphilly – Caerphilly Sub Market - £8500 per plot and other areas £5000 per plot 

• Merthyr – Merthyr Sub Market £1361 per plot and other areas £600 per plot 

• Monmouthshire - £6000 per plot 

• RCT - £5000 per plot 

In terms of the figures above, as stated they are assumed averages and in many cases can be 

considerably lower than the actual cost of section 106 requirements on development sites. In support of  

this view, we would invite you to study RCT’s recent Planning Obligations SPG, where the cost of the 

planning obligations requirements when totalled amounts to more than £40,000 per dwelling, which is 

considerably larger than the £5000 estimate as given within their viability assessment. In addition to this, 

Merthyr Council has recently announced an intention to charge a fee for monitoring Section 106 

obligations, which again is something that was not considered within their particular affordable housing 

viability assessment. Crucially, we believe the point to be made here is that the figures assumed in the 

viability assessments by each local authority are merely ballpark assumptions, which are not based on 

current policy and requirements as given within their respective planning policy documents. Therefore, in 

most cases the actual cost of other section 106 requirements is likely to be much higher, particularly 

given the plethora of requirements that are now being pursued by each LPA through LDPs, SPGs and 

also by the Assembly Government. 

Results and conclusions 

In light of the exercise above, the results and conclusions are described below.  

The graphs within the Appendix below display the impact on residual land values within each local 

authority area, at varying affordable housing percentages, when the cost of site remediation works for 

abnormals, building regulations changes and fire sprinklers are applied to the assessments. For 

information, the affordable housing percentages are given on the horizontal axis of each graph and vary 

between each authority, according to the way in which each assessment has been undertaken.  

You will see from the graphs that despite the affordable housing percentage tested, virtually all residual 

land values are negative, with only a handful of areas (Porthcawl, rural Bridgend and the more affluent 

areas of Monmouthshire) displaying positive values. It is important to note here that merely because a 

development appraisal shows a positive value does not mean the development in question would be 

Tudalen 13



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 1 

 

viable. The residual value of site must be sufficient to incentivise the landowner to sell the particular piece 

of land for development.  

Further to the above, you can also see that land values in most areas fall well below the negative value 

threshold, which also demonstrates the lack of capacity to absorb any planning obligations (or any 

cumulative requirements) that result in a significant additional cost. 

Finally, the last graph within the Appendix gives an indication of what residual land values would look like 

at 20% affordable housing in some of the main areas of each local authority. In terms of this graph, you 

will see that the only area to achieve a slightly positive value is Monmouth, however, this value would still 

not be sufficient to incentivise a landowner to sell their land for development, considering it represents a 

value that is approximately 90% below the average residential land value of the area (at July 2009).   

We believe this preliminary research demonstrates a clear indication of the need to pay close attention to 

the cumulative impact of planning and other regulation on land values in Wales. We also believe it 

demonstrates the need to ensure that public policy objectives remain realistic and deliverable and to 

ensure the cumulative impact of such requirements takes full account of the financial capacity to deliver 

them. This is particularly pertinent where some policy objectives and development requirements will 

inevitably take priority in the hierarchy of requirements at a local and national level – such as changes to 

building regulations (which are required by law) and the physical requirements of a development site that 

are required in order to actually deliver the site on the ground. 

In addition to the above, we believe it provides a stark picture of the likelihood of development in areas 

that require inward investment and regeneration, such as the Rhondda Valleys and Merthyr etc. These 

areas show severe negative values even at minimal affordable housing percentages, which indicates that 

providing housing in these (and similar areas of Wales) would be extremely challenging (or virtually 

impossible). As many LDPs have specified an intention to try and regenerate communities that face 

particular challenges with inward investment and development, we believe it is important that the impact 

of all new policy and regulation is considered in terms of its likely effect on the success of such LDP 

strategies and the delivery of housing in these areas. 

 

Richard Price 

Planning and Policy Advisor - Wales 

The Home Builders Federation 

 

Tudalen 14



 

15 

 

APPENDIX

T
udalen 15



 

16 

 

 

T
udalen 16



 

17 

 

 

T
udalen 17



 

18 

 

 

T
udalen 18



 

19 

 

T
udalen 19



 

20 

 

 

T
udalen 20



 

21 

 

 

T
udalen 21



 

22 

 

 

 

T
udalen 22



� 1 

 

 

National Assembly for Wales: 

Communities, Equality and Local Government Committee Inquiry into the 

provision of affordable housing 

Evidence submitted by RTPI Cymru 

Background 

The Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI) is a membership organisation representing 

over 22,000 spatial planners; RTPI Cymru represents the interests of almost 1,100 

members in Wales. It exists to advance the science and art of town planning for the 

benefit of the public. 

RTPI Cymru welcomes the Inquiry by the Committee.  This evidence has been 

developed by RTPI Cymru’s Policy and Research Forum, which has representatives 

from across the planning community in Wales. 

General 

RTPI Cymru believes that whilst planning has a role to play in delivering affordable 

housing, it is unable to be a consistent vehicle for delivery, as it must consider viability. 

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation published, in June 2008, a report of an independent 

Commission into Rural Housing in Wales which suggested that problems of affordability 

are more acute and that social housing supply is more limited in rural areas as compared 

to urban areas. Delivering affordable housing through the planning system is able to 

deliver relatively more in the urban areas of Wales because the sites involved generally 

involve a higher number of private housing units; it is far more difficult in rural areas as 

the numbers involved are far lower. 

The remainder of this paper addresses the specific planning related issues raised by the 

Committee. 

The effectiveness of public subsidy in delivering affordable housing, in particular 

Social Housing Grant 

Previously developers relied on the availability of Social Housing Grant (SHG) to help 

them deliver affordable housing and this has all but dried up recently. However, many of 

the sites brought forward in 2008-2011 were fully or partly SHG funded or other housing 

grant money brought forward by Welsh Government and this may have artificially 

increased the numbers of affordable housing units being delivered and are quoted in the 

recent figures. 

 

 

CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 2

Tudalen 23



� 2 

Whether alternatives to public subsidy are being fully exploited 

A large percentage of the development cost remains the land value and the opportunity 

for land held by local authorities and Welsh Government to be released for development 

at no or minimal cost needs to be considered. There is a lot of land which people thought 

would obtain a value but this was in the good times when developers would build on 

most sites; in reality a large amount of this land has little or no value either in the short or 

long term. How to encourage or adjust people’s perception of the value of their land is a 

problem that needs to be overcome if land in private ownership is to be successfully 

brought forward in the short and medium term. 

Section 106 / Planning Agreements 

Where Section 106 obligations restrict occupancy to those in affordable housing need, 

this can cause problems in obtaining mortgages from lenders.  This can result in a 

difficulty in finding purchasers for these units and they remain empty, despite a 

recognised high level of affordable housing need in the area. The fact that each LPA has 

a different approach to the drafting of these agreements and each lender’s requirements 

are also not constant, compounds the problem. 

Where private developers are providing affordable housing without the involvement of a 

RSL attempts to sell the affordable housing units via the high street estate agents does 

not appear to be the best way to target the correct customer base as most people 

utilising estate agents do not qualify as being in affordable housing need. Work to 

establish registers of those in need of affordable housing as an alternative customer 

base has been very slow and is proving difficult to get off the ground in some areas 

where stigmatism acts as a deterrent to people's willingness to be included on such 

registers. 

Workable Section 106 obligations with inbuilt flexibility that are acceptable to the lending 

bodies are essential if private developers and self build schemes are going to be able to 

make any contribution to satisfying the current need for affordable housing. RTPI Cymru 

understands that work is underway to address this and is being progressed with the 

WLGA in conjunction with representatives for lenders and involving a number of other 

interested parties. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a new mechanism for levering funding from 

new development to support the provision of infrastructure in an area. It was introduced 

in the 2008 Planning Act, and there are amendments to it in the Localism Bill. CIL is 

being progressed on an England and Wales basis, given that it is deemed as a tax. 

In terms of CIL, at present affordable housing is not included in the definition of 

Infrastructure and therefore will continue to be delivered through Section 106 

agreements. Therefore, when setting CIL levels, LAs must ensure that they do not 

undermine the viability of developments so that affordable housing provision suffers. 

Tudalen 24



� 3 

The UK Government are currently consulting on this (and other matters); they may 

choose to include affordable housing within the definition of Infrastructure for CIL, but 

even if they do, its delivery will very much depend upon local political priorities and how 

high up the agenda Affordable Housing falls. 

Whether the Welsh Government, local authorities and RSLs are effectively 

utilising their powers to increase both the supply of, and access to, affordable 

housing 

Local Planning Authorities (LPA) in Wales follow TAN2 guidance to include specific 

policies and proposals in their Local Development Plans (LDPs) for affordable housing. 

To do this, they work with their housing colleagues to assess demands via local housing 

market assessments and deliver affordable housing requirements via the development 

management process. 

RTPI Cymru has previously made points about greater control of second and holiday 

homes to reduce these pressures on the rural housing market and also on assisting local 

authorities to release land for affordable housing development. 

Current National Policy 

There has been a lot of national policy produced promoting affordable housing including 

the Welsh Government guidance "Delivering Affordable Housing Using s106 

Agreements" and this has been useful. However, there may be a need to promote this 

policy direction and mechanisms for delivery to those LPA officers who deal with 

planning applications; there may have been a focus on Planning Policy and Housing 

officers taking a lead on this. 

However, RTPI Cymru does not believe that national guidance alone will be successful 

in delivering more affordable housing in Wales. The main hurdles that stand in the way 

are: the speed at which local policies are able to catch up with national policy; the 

political will at a local level to prioritise affordable housing; the economic viability and the 

ability for developer's to provide affordable housing; and the lack of social housing grant 

to cross-subsidise affordable housing delivery. 

Viability 

Viability is a significant issue affecting development in the current economic market and 

this restricts the ability of the planning system to deliver affordable housing through 

planning agreements, as viability is a material consideration for LPAs to consider. 

During the current downturn in the housing market, developers who bought sites in more 

profitable times (and before national and local policies increased % affordable housing 

requirements) argue that they cannot afford to meet LPAs’ requirements for affordable 

housing, and in many cases they are able to evidence this, in which case LPAs are 

forced to accept lower levels of affordable housing. It is not expected that this will 

change in the short or medium term and therefore, the ability to deliver affordable 

Tudalen 25



� 4 

housing through Section 106 (planning gain) agreements will be limited until the market 

improves substantially. On a recent case in the Vale of Glamorgan, the District Valuer 

advised there would need to be a 20% increase in house price values before more 

affordable housing or other obligations could be delivered. 

Furthermore, housebuilders argue that landowners still have artificially high expectations 

of land values and if national and local policies continue to set high targets, land owners 

will 'sit on' their land until policies ease up. National housebuilders have also advised 

that if the Welsh Government continues to pursue the current direction of travel for 

affordable housing policy (alongside the push for sustainable homes) then they will stop 

developing in Wales and only work in England. They argue that in England there is more 

competition between RSLs so they compete against each other and pay the developer 

more per unit thus enabling the developer to provide a higher % of affordable housing 

units. In Wales, this has been deliberately stamped out to maximise the money RSLs 

have in reserves to enable them to provide affordable housing. 

With regard to sustainable buildings policy; we would not advocate a relaxation of this 

policy. The link between this and affordable housing need must be understood and the 

implications for occupants and fuel poverty. 

Local Policy 

Up to date local policies are an essential element for the delivery of any LPA or 

Government policy. The majority of LPAs in Wales are now progressing their LDPs, with 

five now adopted and two submitted for examination. Without strong local planning 

policies the shape of housing provision can only be marginally influenced. Consequently 

the type of housing built, for example family homes vs apartments, cannot be directed by 

LPAs in response to local housing need. 

Whilst some LPAs have now produced LDPs which reflect the national policies and 

higher priority given to affordable housing, in the main these are in relatively lower value 

development areas (e.g. Caerphilly, Rhondda Cynon Taf) and therefore only time will tell 

as to how viable these policies will be. Higher value areas like Cardiff, the Vale of 

Glamorgan, Bridgend and Monmouthshire are still to produce their LDPs. In the mean 

time, most LPAs have up to date SPG or Delivery Statements and these set lower 

thresholds and a higher % of affordable housing schemes. However, because the 

housing market has been very quiet for the last four years, these policies have not been 

tested very thoroughly. 

Regardless of national or local policies, each planning application will be subjected to 

scrutiny by Planning Committee. Members serving on Planning Committees do not 

always prioritise affordable housing over other matters such as education, transport or 

community facilities. This is particularly relevant where development viability is an issue 

and the number of Section 106 obligations is reduced below the policy requirements. 

 

Tudalen 26



� 5 

Empty Homes Strategies 

Many local authorities, particularly rural authorities, are undertaking work to bring empty 

homes into use. In many cases, Authorities have been able to use planning legislation to 

assist with this activity. RTPI Cymru and CIH Cymru have been promoting this activity 

through the joint Planning for Housing Network. This area of work could be promoted 

further through guidance to authorities and partners, including RSLs, building on the 

experience of existing schemes. 

Whether there is sufficient collaborative working between local authorities, RSLs, 

financial institutions and homebuilders 

RTPI Cymru supports inter-professional collaboration. Specific to housing, we run jointly 

with CIH Cymru a Wales Planning for Housing Network which holds joint events in north 

and south Wales to bring together planners and housing professionals, across sectors, 

to discuss issues of common interest. 

RTPI Cymru is also a founder member of the Regeneration Skills Collective Wales 

(RSCW), working with five other built environment professional bodies to promote the 

skills agenda for built environment professional bodies in delivering regeneration, which 

housing forms a key element. 

The work of the Centre for Regeneration Excellence Wales (CREW) also undertakes 

positive work in promoting good practice on the delivery of affordable housing in Wales. 

Problems with current section 106 obligations covering affordable housing provision 

highlighted earlier in this evidence demonstrate the urgent need for collaborative work 

between the various bodies. Without a workable Section 106 the implementation of both 

national and local policy will be ineffective. 

 

November 2011 

Tudalen 27



 1

CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 3 

 
Evidence to Communities, Equalities and Local 
Government Committee into the provision of affordable 
housing across all tenures in Wales  
 
Introduction  
1. There is increasing recognition that a failure to meet housing need in 

Wales will have significant impact on our ability to address important policy 

areas including social inclusion, social justice, health and well being, 
community safety, regeneration, educational achievement and economic 

prosperity. An adequate supply of good quality affordable housing is therefore 

fundamental to achieving a wide range of Welsh Government, Local 
Government and community priorities and improved outcomes. 

 

2. Housing has a crucial role to play in economic, social and environmental 

regeneration. There is substantial evidence of the important role housing 
investment plays in generating direct and indirect employment and training 

opportunities. It also has a significant impact on the local economy and labour 
market and can play a particularly important role in securing the sustainability 
of communities and local services in rural Wales.      

 
3. It is clear that there is a historic and growing under supply of housing in 
Wales and across the UK and this is impacting on the supply of homes that 
are affordable. At a time when demand and need for housing exceeds supply 
it is inevitable that vulnerable households and those on lowest incomes will 
experience the greatest difficulty in securing a home. Ultimately a lack of 
affordable homes will increase homelessness and increase pressure on a wide 
range of public services including health care, social care, housing support, 

child protection and criminal justice. Addressing the need for good quality 
affordable housing is therefore priority for Local Government.  
 
4. A University of Cambridge study (Holmans & Monk 2009) has projected 

that between 2006 and 2026 the need for housing will increase by 14,200 
dwellings per year - 9,200 in the market sector and 5,100 in the non market 

sector. In addition there was estimated to be a backlog need for 9,500 homes 

in 2006 and given the reduction in supply over recent years, it is inevitable 
that this figure has increased.  

 

5. There has been a failure to increase housing supply in Wales to meet the 
growing need for a significant time. Between 2000 - 2005 the annual increase 

in housing supply has been 8,000 – 9,000 homes, with a steady decline to 

5,505 in 2010 -11, the lowest level since the Second World War. It appears 

unlikely that housing supply will rise significantly above this level for some 
time given current economic and housing market conditions. Housing 
registers for social housing are lengthening, with between 4 – 5 people 

Eitem 2b

Tudalen 28



 2

registered for every vacancy and homelessness is rising rapidly with an 

increase of 16% in 2010/11.  
 

6. Our ability to rely on past mechanisms for providing affordable housing - 

public investment and subsidy through the planning system - is very limited. 

The challenge of meeting the need for affordable housing is therefore 
considerable and will require close collaboration and a diverse package of 

responses, including making the most effective use of existing homes.   

 
Affordable homes  
7. The term ‘affordable homes’ is used to describe a wide spectrum of 

subsidised housing, from social rented homes at one end of the spectrum to 

properties that are marginally below, and sometimes above open market 
costs at the other. This raises important questions about the degree to which 

such housing is affordable to lower income households. The term ‘affordable 

housing’ is also used to describe housing that is affordable for the initial 
purchaser, but is subsequently resold at full market value.   
 
8. At a time when resources are under extreme pressure it is important that 

there is clarity about the term ‘affordable housing’ and the related policy 
objectives in order that limited resources are used to maximum effect.  
 

9. For the purposes of planning the term ‘affordable homes’ is defined in the 
‘Planning Policy Wales Technical Advice note 2: Planning and affordable 
housing’ as housing which is ‘accessible to those who cannot afford market 

housing both on first occupation and for subsequent occupation’. The term 
includes ‘social rented housing provided by local authorities and registered 
social landlords and intermediate housing where prices or rents are above 
those of social rent but below market housing prices or rents’. Clearly this 
definition covers a wide range of housing options, not all of which will be 
affordable for low income households. The definition also fails to incorporate 

wider aspects of affordability in terms of service charges and access to 

transport and services.  
 
10. Public investment and subsidy is declining rapidly with a reduction of 30% 

in Social Housing Grant (SHG) in 2011/12 to £69.5m, a reduction to £60m in 

2012/13 and a further reduction to £48m in 2013/14. This has prompted 
attempts by Authorities and RSL’s to ‘stretch SHG’ by supporting intermediate 

housing with lower levels of grant. This focus on producing ‘affordable 

housing’ which requires less SHG will inevitably reduce the number of 
additional social rented homes delivered and this will have a real impact on 

households in greatest housing need.  

 
11. At a time when subsidy for affordable housing is increasingly scarce it is 
important that there is greater clarity about the term “affordable homes”. This 

raises questions about the extent to which public subsidy should focus on 

Tudalen 29



 3

housing need or housing aspiration, and how long the subsidised home 

remains affordable.  

 
 
Essex Review of Affordable Housing 
12. The Essex review of affordable housing (Essex et al 2008) identified a 

range of barriers to the delivery of affordable housing and made a number of 
significant recommendations. Good progress has been made in implementing 

many of the proposed changes but new challenges and opportunities continue 

to emerge.  
 

13. The review focused on a number of issues including the need for greater 

clarity in the respective roles of the Welsh Government, Local Government, 
Registered Social Landlords (RSL’s) and the private sector; more robust 

regulation of RSL’s; securing additional finance and making better use of 

existing resources such as land and the social housing asset base; the need to 

review the social housing rent regime and the Housing Revenue Account 
subsidy system and the development of a more robust evidence base. There 

is no doubt that the increased pace in affordable housing delivery which led 
to the ‘One Wales’ target of 6,500 being achieved in 3 years is evidence of 
the progress that has been made over recent years in delivering affordable 

homes. 
 

Inquiry Questions:  
14. The Essex Review contained some very clear messages which continue to 
be relevant. Perhaps the most important one is the need for effective 
collaborative working between local Authorities, RSL’s, financial 
institutions and homebuilders. (Inquiry question 4) 
 
15. Key stakeholders including Local Authorities, RSL’s, developers and 

lenders are increasingly working together to explore opportunities to deliver 
affordable homes. Inevitably the effectiveness of such partnerships is variable 

across Wales, but there is wide recognition that collaboration across sectors 

and boundaries is essential if we are to meet the need for affordable homes 
to rent and to buy.  

 
16. From April 2011 notional Social Housing Grant (SHG) is distributed to 
Local Authorities using a formula based approach and Authorities now set 

expenditure priorities for a significant proportion of the SHG programme. This 

arrangement recognises the strategic housing role of Local Government and 

provides a useful framework for consolidating partnerships with RSL’s, 
developers and other partners, particularly in relation to SHG funded 

schemes. A good example of close collaboration between Local Authorities 

and the RSL sector is the recent co location of two Local Authority housing 
strategy teams and a housing association.  

 

Tudalen 30



 4

17. Authorities are also working closely with RSL’s to deliver non SHG funded 

housing developments and in most parts of Wales are able to ensure that  
RSL developments address local strategic housing priorities. One Authority for 

example has contributed land at no cost and has worked with RSL partners 

and developers to provide a significant number of homes without SHG 

funding.   
 

18. The Welsh Housing Partnership is piloting an innovative approach which 

uses private funding and 18% SHG to purchase existing homes for a period of 
up to 10 years for letting by housing associations at sub market rents. The 

transferability of this model will depend on the extent to which the homes 

meet local strategic housing priorities and the rents are affordable to low 
income households. These will be important questions when considering 

whether WHP it is an appropriate use of limited SHG funding or whether it is 

a model which potentially can deliver housing without the need for SHG.    

 
19. Local Authorities also work closely with private developers, particularly in 
relation to the delivery of affordable homes through the planning system. The 
planning system is a major enabler of affordable housing with over 25% of 
affordable homes delivered in Wales 2007-10 through this mechanism of 
cross subsidy. The key tool is Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act which enables Local Authorities to agree payments or ‘in kind’ obligations 
such as affordable housing with developers, to mitigate any unacceptable 
impacts of a development. However given the current difficulties in the 
housing and financial markets there are concerns about the future 

contribution that s106 agreements can make to the delivery of affordable 
housing.  
 

20. Housing market uncertainty and restricted lending is leading to a drop in 
housing and land values across many parts of Wales. This is having an impact 
on the economic viability of private sector housing development which in turn 

is leading to a reduction in the level of affordable housing delivered through 
the planning system. The housing market remains buoyant in some parts of 
Wales, but is sluggish across much of the country and this is raising growing 

concerns about the ability of Local Authorities in the current climate to deliver 

affordable housing through this model of cross subsidy.  
 

21. From 2014 the new Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) will become the 
main mechanism for providing local infrastructure through the planning 
system. However CIL does not include affordable housing and there is an 

expectation that Local Authorities will negotiate separately for affordable 

housing to be delivered through s106 agreements. There are concerns that 

these new arrangements will reduce the subsidy that developers provide for 
affordable housing through the planning system, particularly on sites where 

economic viability is marginal.   

 
22. The close partnership between Local Authorities, RSL’s and developers 

has ensured that when funding has been available, for example from the 

Tudalen 31



 5

Welsh Government Strategic Capital Investment Fund (SCIF), it can be used  

quickly and effectively. SCIF funding was used to purchase properties from 
developers with stalled sites and resulted in a rapid increase in supply of 

social and affordable homes. It also successfully kick started stalled 

developments and protected skills and jobs and the speedy injection of capital 

investment also had a wider impact on the local economy and labour market.   
 

23. Local Authorities and other partners are developing links with lenders in 

an effort to address the impact that the restricted lending is having on the 
housing market generally and on the supply of affordable homes which 

remain affordable in perpetuity. In the current financial climate lenders are 

particularly resistant to covenants which restrict future sale of affordable 
homes.  

 

24. The WLGA is working with Welsh Government and the Council of 

Mortgage lenders (CML) to develop a good practice note and standardised 
covenants in an effort to facilitate lending on affordable homes for sale which 
ensures properties remain affordable in perpetuity. Local Authorities are also 
helping to address lender concerns by developing registers of potential 
eligible purchasers for affordable homes.      
 
25. There are a wide range of examples of innovative collaboration between 
partners and a strong commitment to work together, however the key issues 
continue to be land values, the economic viability of housing development, 
lending practices and shrinking public investment.  

  
The Essex review also underlined the need to make the most 
effective use of existing powers, resources including SHG and public 

subsidy, (Inquiry Question 1) in order to increase the supply of and 
access to affordable housing (Inquiry Question 3). 
 

26. Public subsidy has historically played a key role in the provision of sub 
market housing. It is inevitable therefore that the significant reduction in 
Social Housing Grant over coming years will have a serious impact on the 

delivery of affordable homes. In response Local Authorities and their partners 

have been exploring ways in which the reduced SHG can be ‘stretched’ 
through funding schemes at less than the standard SHG rate of 58%. 

 
27. A number of approaches are being used which largely focus on providing 
intermediate housing for households who have average rather than lower 

incomes. This includes the Welsh Government intermediate rental product’ 

Rent First’ and low cost home ownership products including Welsh 

Government ‘Homebuy’. RSL’s have also developed a range of alternative 
models for intermediate housing and Low Cost Home Ownership.  

Opportunities to develop mixed housing sites where market and intermediate 

housing can cross subsidise social homes are also being explored. However 
this model of cross subsidisation is increasingly difficult given problems of 

economic viability.  

Tudalen 32



 6

 

28. These approaches which focus on stretching the reduced level of subsidy 
will increase the supply of sub market homes for households on average 

incomes, but will also impact on the number of social rented homes which can 

be provided. This will make it more important than ever that the most 

effective use is made of existing social housing and raises some important 
questions about the role of social housing in Wales and the extent to which 

access to should be focused on those in greatest need.    

 
29. The availability of land is a key factor in the delivery of affordable homes 

and represents anything between 25 -75% of the overall cost. Publicly owned 

land in parts of Wales where land values remain relatively high can be used to 
cross subsidise the delivery of affordable homes, however in areas where land 

values are now low the opportunities are more limited. Authorities in areas 

where land values have remained more stable land continue to be able to use 

publicly owned land to subsidise development costs or invest in an equity 
stake. Between 2007 and 2010 around 18% of all additional affordable homes 
in Wales (1,190) were delivered on land made available by Local Authorities. 
The degree to which this will continue to be possible will depend on changes 
in land values and competing demands within Local Authorities for capital 
investment.   
 
30. The Welsh Government protocol for the disposal of public land for 
affordable housing has resulted in some land being released for affordable 
housing, however progress has been relatively slow. A number of appropriate 

sites have been released but others have not proceeded due to the valuation 
of the land. There may well be opportunities to make more use of publicly 
owned land, however with severe pressures on capital investment there will 

inevitably be many competing demands.  
 
31. Local Authority building programmes have historically made a significant 

contribution to the supply of social homes in Wales, even after taking into 
account the sale of 44% of homes through the ‘Right to Buy’. However 
current financing arrangements for council housing has largely prevented 

Councils from building new homes. In April 2012 the Housing Revenue 

Account (HRA) arrangements in England will be dismantled and, subject to 
having borrowing headroom, Authorities will be in a position to re invest rents 

in existing and new stock.  
 
32. Agreement has not yet been reached regarding the future of the HRA 

subsidy arrangements in Wales and discussions are underway with the 

Treasury. A resolution of these discussions and the ending of the HRAs 

arrangements in Wales will enable councils with stock to reinvest rental 
income in existing and new affordable homes. The scale of this will depend on 

the settlement reached with Treasury and the borrowing headroom available.  

  
33. The rental income of social landlords has an important role to play in 

levering in additional borrowing for affordable homes. The Welsh Government 

Tudalen 33



 7

has recently consulted on a new rent policy for social housing in Wales which 

is based on the principles of convergence of council housing and RSL rents, 
delivering greater consistency across Wales and affordability. Welsh 

Government is proposing that the relatively low social housing rents will 

continue to increase at more than inflation in order to create additional 

investment for new affordable homes. This approach has the potential to 
increase the borrowing of social landlords, but until the HRA subsidy system is 

dismantled in Wales Local Authorities will be required to return any increased  

rental income to the Treasury.  
 

34. Social housing tenants have the potential to provide a potential source of 

additional funding to increase the supply of affordable homes. However in the 
current financial climate it is important that a balance to be struck between 

maintaining affordable social rents and the objective of securing additional 

funding to build affordable homes. 

  
35. RSL borrowing is being affected by the current economic climate with 
costs of borrowing starting to rise, particularly when there is a perceived 
increase of risk. The UK Government welfare reform agenda is expected to 
impact on rental income streams and it is likely that this will increase the cost 
of RSL borrowing. There is a potential danger that this perceived risk to rental 
income will also encourage RSL’s to review access to social housing and 
reduce levels of access to households most affected by the Welfare Reform 
changes. 
 

36. Given the increase in homelessness and rising housing need it is 
important that households who have most difficulty in accessing market 
housing have access to the limited supply of social housing. A number of 

Local Authorities and RSL’s have established local or regional common 
housing registers to ensure access to all social housing is consistent and 
focused on those in greatest need. It is clearly important that social landlords 

balance the need to provide homes for the rising number of low income and 
vulnerable households in housing need with the need for communities to be 
sustainable.  

 

37. Local Authorities are subject to a Code of Guidance on Allocations and to 
legislation which requires they give ‘reasonable preference’ to households in 

defined categories of housing need. This legislation does not apply to the RSL 
sector and there is no RSL Code of Guidance on allocations. We suggest 
greater consistency across social housing in terms of expectations could play 

an important part in ensuring equitable access to the limited supply of social 

rented homes.    

  
38. Guidance is soon to be issued relating to the introduction of the power for 

Local Authorities to suspend the ‘right to buy’ and the ‘right to acquire’ in 

areas of housing pressure. This new power is welcome despite the relatively 
low level of sales under the right to buy/acquire which totalled 375 in 

2010/11. Given the growing demand for social rented homes it is also 

Tudalen 34



 8

important that voluntary sales of social homes are kept to a minimum unless 

it is clear receipts are being used to invest in replacement stock. The number 
of voluntary sales of social rented homes by Local Authorities is extremely 

low, but sales by RSL’s are somewhat higher.  

 

39. Discussions about the supply of affordable homes often tends to focus on 
increasing new supply, however it is also important to explore the potential to 

make more effective use of existing homes. Social landlords have reduced the 

number of voids to a very low level (1.7%) but there are a significant number 
of properties in the private sector that have been empty for more than 6 

months, with estimates varying between 18,000 – 26,000. Every Authority in 

Wales has a strategy in place in relation to empty homes however the work 
involved is time consuming and also requires Authorities to have access to 

finance for grants, loans and purchase costs. The potential for establishing a 

recyclable loans fund to support this work is currently being explored and this 

could provide a real impetus to the work of bringing empty homes back into 
use.  
 
40. We also urge the Welsh Government to consider enabling Local 
Authorities to charge more than 100% council tax on empty and second 
homes in order to dis-incentivise homes being left empty or being used as 
second homes. This could also generate additional income which could 
potentially be ring fenced to bring empty homes back into use and increase 
affordable housing supply.  A WLGA survey of Authorities has estimated that 
council tax charged at 125% on second homes alone would raise between £4-

£6m per year. If Authorities were given powers to charge a similar level of 
council tax for properties left empty for more than a year this figure would 
increase.  

 
41. In the light of the significant reductions in the SHG programme it is 
essential most effective use is made of this funding. The level of top slicing 

from the grant programme has been reduced since 2011, however £8m per 
annum continues to be top sliced to provide for physical adaptations to RSL 
properties. This represents over 13% of the Social Housing Grant programme 

in 2012/13, rising to 16% in 2013/14. Local Authorities fund adaptations to 

their properties from the HRA or the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and if 
RSL’s similarly funded adaptations from income, this would ensure that the 

limited SHG programme could be focused on increasing the supply of 
affordable homes.    
     

42. Subsidies which facilitate the delivery of affordable homes are extremely 

low and will clearly fail to deliver anything near to the figures suggested by 

the Holmans report (2009). There is an undisputed need for additional 
financial investment and this raises the question of whether there is 

potential to explore further opportunities for levering in investment 

(Inquiry Question 2).  
 

Tudalen 35



 9

43. We have discussed above the potential for Authorities, RSL’s and Welsh 

Government to use publicly owned land as a mechanism for subsidising the 
delivery of affordable homes. In particular we have pointed to potential 

offered by the Welsh Government land release protocol and suggest that 

release of Welsh Government and related public land holdings is explored 

more fully and perhaps a register compiled and published.  
 

44. Some Authorities are exploring the potential for underwriting small scale 

affordable housing developments. In one example an Authority has 
underwritten a series of small developments of affordable homes by a private 

developer as part of a regeneration scheme. The Authority agreed to 

purchase any properties which the developer could not sell but was not 
required to step in as all properties were sold to households the local register 

for intermediate housing. This is a good example of how public bodies can 

share the risk with other partners and facilitate developments which would 

otherwise not take place.   
 
45. A further example of risk sharing is the Local Authorities Mortgage 
Scheme (LAMS) which involves Authorities guaranteeing a proportion of a 
mortgage (20%) to enable first time buyers to access a mortgage of 70% 
with a 5% deposit. The scheme which has been taken up by 3 Authorities in 
Wales so far and it is expected that other Authorities may follow. This model 
is not specifically aimed at affordable or sub market housing, but will clearly 
ease pressure on waiting lists and the private rented sector. Some Authorities 
in Wales are exploring alternative models for first time buyer mortgage 

guarantees which better target at local households.  
 
46. The current arrangements for council housing financing make it difficult 

for Authorities to build new homes. However a small number of Authorities 
are currently exploring the potential to develop homes outside the HRA using 
prudential borrowing powers. At a wider level Local Government is currently 

considering vehicles which could increase access to capital investment for a 
range of purposes including affordable housing. In particular the potential for 
a Local Government bond and prudential borrowing are currently being 

explored.   

 
The Inquiry has asked specifically whether innovative methods of 

delivering housing such as Community Land Trusts or co operatives 
could be promoted more effectively by the Welsh Government  
47. We support the exploration of any new approaches which have the 

capacity to deliver affordable homes which are sustainable and address local 

strategic priorities. There has been some experience in Wales of Community 

Land Trusts and of co operative forms of housing, some of which have a 
chequered history. It will be important to draw lessons from these previous 

experiences to identify how best they can be supported and promoted.  

 
48. There are some signs that co operative housing could attract sources of 

institutional investment which are currently not be exploited. It is important 

Tudalen 36



 10

that this is explored  as this might provide the opportunity to not only 

increase the supply of affordable homes but also introduce greater choice and 
flexibility to the housing market in Wales.        

 

References  

Holmans, A. Monk, S. (2009) Housing demand and need in Wales 2006-26 
        University of Cambridge  

 

Welsh Government (March 2011) Affordable Housing provision in Wales – 
                                                Analysis for 2007-08 to 2009-10 

 

 
Sue Finch  

WLGA Housing Policy Officer  

November 2011 

 

Tudalen 37



CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 4 
 
TYSTIOLAETH YSGRIFENEDIG AR GYFER YMCHWILIAD Y PWYLLGOR 
CYMUNEDAU, CYDRADDOLDEB A LLYWODRAETH LEOL I'R DDARPARIAETH O 
DAI FFORDDIADWY, AR DRAWS POB DEILIADAETH, YNG NGHYMRU.  
 
Cyflwyniad 
 
1. Mae'r papur hwn yn cyflwyno tystiolaeth ysgrifenedig gan y Gweinidog Tai, Adfywio a 

Threftadaeth ar gyfer ymchwiliad y Pwyllgor i'r ddarpariaeth o dai fforddiadwy, ar draws 
pob deiliadaeth, yng Nghymru.   

 
2. Cylch gorchwyl yr ymchwiliad yw ystyried:  
 

• Effeithiolrwydd cymhorthdal cyhoeddus wrth gyflenwi tai fforddiadwy, yn arbennig y 
Grant Tai Cymdeithasol;  

• A ydy'r opsiynau ar wahân i gymhorthdal cyhoeddus yn cael eu defnyddio'n llawn;  

• A ydy Llywodraeth Cymru, awdurdodau lleol a Landlordiaid Cofrestredig 
Cymdeithasol (RSL) yn defnyddio eu pwerau'n effeithiol i gynyddu'r cyflenwad o dai 
fforddiadwy, yn ogystal â sicrhau bod modd i fwy o bobl gael mynediad atynt;  

• A oes digon o gydweithio rhwng awdurdodau lleol, RSL, sefydliadau ariannol ac 
adeiladwyr tai;   

• A allai Llywodraeth Cymru hyrwyddo dulliau arloesol o gyflenwi tai fforddiadwy, 
megis Ymddiriedolaethau Tir Cymunedol neu gwmnïau cydweithredol, yn fwy 
effeithiol?  

 
Y Cyd-destun  
 
3. Ceir tair blaenoriaeth yn y Strategaeth Dai Genedlaethol, "Gwella Bywydau a 

Chymunedau - Tai yng Nghymru", a gyhoeddwyd ym mis Ebrill 2010: darparu mwy o 
dai o'r math cywir a chynnig mwy o ddewis; gwella ansawdd tai a chymunedau; a 
gwella gwasanaethau a chymorth sy’n gysylltiedig â thai, yn arbennig ar gyfer pobl 
agored i niwed a grwpiau lleiafrifol. Datblygwyd y Strategaeth ar y cyd â'r sector tai yng 
Nghymru, a chaiff y gwaith o'i gweithredu ei gefnogi gan y sector hwnnw.  

 
4. Mae Maniffesto a Rhaglen Lywodraethu'r Llywodraeth yn adlewyrchu'r blaenoriaethau 

allweddol hyn. Unwaith yn rhagor, dull yn seiliedig ar gydweithio a chyd-gynhyrchu â'r 
sector tai a gaiff ei ddefnyddio i gefnogi’r gwaith i fodloni’r ymrwymiadau hyn. Mae'r dull 
hwn yn deillio o argymhellion Adroddiad Essex 2008 ar gyflenwi tai fforddiadwy.   

 
5. Gan ddefnyddio argymhellion Adroddiad Essex fel sylfaen, mae Llywodraeth Cymru, 

cymdeithasau tai, ac awdurdodau lleol, wedi gweithio'n ddiwyd i gynyddu'r cyflenwad. 
Rhwng 1 Ebrill 2007 a 31 Mawrth 2011, cafodd cyfanswm cronnol o 9,091 o unedau tai 
fforddiadwy ychwanegol eu cyflenwi ledled Cymru. Roedd y cyfanswm hwn 40 y cant 
yn uwch na tharged gwreiddiol 'Cymru'n Un', sef 6,500 erbyn 2011. Yn ystod y cyfnod 
hwn o amser, mae mwy na £570 miliwn o gyllid y Grant Tai Cymdeithasol wedi cael ei 
neilltuo i gefnogi cynlluniau tai fforddiadwy yng Nghymru. 

 

Eitem 2c

Tudalen 38



6. Fodd bynnag, mae'r hinsawdd economaidd yn wahanol iawn erbyn hyn. Mae toriadau 
sylweddol i gyllidebau cyfalaf, yn sgil adolygiad o wariant Llywodraeth y DU, wedi 
arwain at doriadau o dros 38% i gyllidebau. Golyga hyn bod cyllid cyfalaf ar gyfer tai 
wedi gostwng o £69 miliwn yn 2011/12 i £48 miliwn yn 2013/14, o'i gymharu â chyllideb 
flynyddol flaenorol o tua £100 miliwn. Serch hynny, mae'r galw yn dal i gynyddu. 
Rydym yn gwybod hefyd fod effaith ariannol newidiadau diweddar Llywodraeth y DU i'r 
budd-dal tai yn golygu y bydd y mwyafrif helaeth o hawlwyr ar eu colled. Disgwylir i rent 
y sector preifat ostwng. Fodd bynnag, os na fydd hynny'n digwydd, bydd yr effeithiau 
cymdeithasol a demograffig yn sylweddol. 

 
7. Mae'r adroddiad Ymchwil Gymdeithasol ‘Yr Angen a’r Galw am Dai yng Nghymru 2006 

i 2026', a gomisiynwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru yn 2010, yn darparu amcangyfrif o'r 
angen a'r galw am dai yn y dyfodol yng Nghymru hyd 2026. Yn ôl yr adroddiad, 
amcangyfrifir y bydd angen 5,100 o dai ychwanegol nad ydynt yn dai ar gyfer y 
farchnad bob blwyddyn i fodloni'r angen a ragwelir. Yn y cyd-destun hwn, mae tai nad 
ydynt ar gyfer y farchnad yn cynnwys tai cymdeithasol traddodiadol, perchnogion-
meddianwyr sy'n prynu drwy'r cynllun Hawl i Brynu, a'r sector rhent preifat lle mae’r 
tenantiaid yn derbyn budd-dal tai. Amcangyfrifir yn yr adroddiad hefyd bod yr angen tai 
sydd heb ei fodloni ar hyn o bryd gyfystyr â thua 9,500 o aelwydydd.  

 
8. Yn ddiweddar, cyhoeddodd y Prif Weinidog raglen lywodraethu 5 mlynedd Llywodraeth 

Cymru, sy'n cynnwys Bil Tai i amddiffyn ein dinasyddion mwyaf agored i niwed ac i 
helpu i wella eu hiechyd a'u lles. Bydd y Bil yn caniatáu i Lywodraeth Cymru fodloni ein 
hymrwymiadau yn ein Maniffesto, mewn meysydd megis mynd i'r afael â digartrefedd a 
gwella safonau a hawliau tenantiaid yn y sector rhentu preifat. Mae'r sector tai wedi 
ymrwymo'n llawn i ddatblygu ein syniadau ynghylch beth arall sydd angen ei wneud i 
fynd i'r afael â'r materion sylweddol sy'n ein hwynebu o ran tai, ac mae hynny'n 
cynnwys cynyddu'r cyflenwad o dai fforddiadwy a phennu cynnwys posibl y Bil Tai. 

  
9. Mae'r angen i gynyddu'r cyflenwad a'r toriadau sylweddol i'n cyllidebau yn golygu bod 

rhaid inni edrych ar ddulliau newydd ac arloesol o ariannu tai a'u cyflenwi. Byddwn, 
wrth reswm, yn monitro canlyniadau'r dulliau newydd hyn ac yn edrych ar y mater o 
bennu targed tai fforddiadwy ar gyfer y dyfodol.  

 
Effeithiolrwydd cymhorthdal cyhoeddus wrth gyflenwi tai, yn arbennig y Grant Tai 
Cymdeithasol 
 
Y Grant Tai Cymdeithasol 
 
10. Ers 2007, mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi neilltuo mwy na £570 miliwn o arian y Grant 

Tai Cymdeithasol i gefnogi cynlluniau tai fforddiadwy ledled Cymru. Mae'r arian wedi 
darparu tai diogel, sy'n hygyrch ac yn fforddiadwy i bobl sydd mewn angen tai yng 
Nghymru.    

 
11. Y Grant Tai Cymdeithasol yw'r brif ffynhonnell o gymhorthdal ar gyfer darparu tai 

fforddiadwy yng Nghymru. Caiff tai fforddiadwy eu cyflenwi hefyd heb gymhorthdal, 
megis y rheini a ddarperir gan gwmnïau adeiladu tai ar sail ecwiti a rennir neu gan 
gymdeithasau tai sy'n adeiladu heb grant. Gellir defnyddio'r Grant Tai Cymdeithasol ar 
gyfer amryw o wahanol fathau o dai, gan gynnwys gwahanol ddeiliadaeth, hy eiddo 
cymdeithasol ar rent, tai rhent canolradd a pherchentyaeth cost isel, ac ar gyfer 

Tudalen 39



gwahanol fathau o anghenion tai, ee tai ar gyfer teuluoedd ac ar gyfer pobl hŷn, a thai 
â chymorth ar gyfer pobl ag anghenion penodol.  

 
12. Caiff y Grant Tai Cymdeithasol ei ddarparu i gymdeithasau tai fel Landlordiaid 

Cymdeithasol Cofrestredig a reoleiddir; fodd bynnag, awdurdodau tai lleol strategol 
sy'n pennu sut y defnyddir yr arian ac ym mhle. Mae hyn yn sicrhau bod yr arian grant 
yn cael ei dargedu at gynlluniau sy'n bodloni anghenion a blaenoriaethau tai penodol 
pob awdurdod lleol. Er mwyn datblygu'n llwyddiannus, rhaid hefyd wrth bartneriaethau 
agos â'r diwydiant adeiladu tai, ac mae’r cysylltiadau yn y sector tai yn gadarn yng 
Nghymru.   

 
13. Mae'r Grant Tai Cymdeithasol wedi darparu cyllid ar gyfer rhaglenni tai penodol megis 

y Rhaglen Extracare, y Cynllun Achub Morgeisi, y Rhaglen Camddefnyddio Cyffuriau a 
Sylweddau a Rhaglenni Adsefydlu Ysbytai. Mae arian ychwanegol wedi cael ei 
ddarparu i gefnogi tai fforddiadwy a ariennir drwy'r Grant Tai Cymdeithasol o'r Gronfa 
Buddsoddi Cyfalaf Strategol.  

14. Rhaid i gynlluniau a ariennir gan y Grant Tai Cymdeithasol ddangos eu bod yn darparu 
gwerth am arian a'u bod yn gyson â meini prawf Canllaw Costau Derbyniol 
Llywodraeth Cymru. Mae hyn yn sicrhau bod cynlluniau yn cael eu datblygu'n effeithiol, 
a chan dynnu cyn lleied â phosibl o gostau. 

15. Caiff y rhan fwyaf o gynlluniau eu hariannu gan ddefnyddio cyfradd grant sefydlog o 
58%, ar gyfer darparu eiddo cymdeithasol ar rent. Fodd bynnag, rydym hefyd yn 
darparu cymorth grant ar lefel is ar gyfer tai rhent canolradd (25%) a pherchentyaeth 
cost isel (30% neu 50%). Gellir trosoli'r grant hwn hefyd ar gyfer cyflenwi tai 
fforddiadwy heb gymhorthdal.  

  
16. Telir gweddill costau’r cynlluniau gan gymdeithasau tai a fydd yn chwilio am weddill yr 

arian o ffynonellau cyllid preifat. Yn syml, bydd buddsoddiad o £50 miliwn o'r Grant Tai 
Cymdeithasol yn cefnogi cynlluniau sy'n costio hyd at gyfanswm o £86 miliwn. Mae 
cymhorthdal ar y lefel hon yn caniatáu ar gyfer cynnal rhenti tai cymdeithasol 
traddodiadol ar lefel fforddiadwy.  

 
17. Yn aml, gall buddsoddi arian cyhoeddus mewn cynlluniau tai fforddiadwy fod yn 

sbardun ar gyfer denu ffynonellau eraill o arian neu i gefnogi prosiectau cysylltiedig. 
Gall y rhain amrywio o ddarparu canolfannau cymunedol lleol, neu gyfleusterau 
cymunedol eraill, i ryddhau safleoedd lle mae gwaith wedi'i atal i'r sector tai preifat. 

 
Ffynonellau eraill o gymhorthdal 
 
18. Darperir cymhorthdal hefyd drwy ryddhau tir cyhoeddus. Yn 2010/11, cafodd wyth safle 

Llywodraeth Cymru eu rhyddhau ar gyfer tai fforddiadwy neu eu gwerthu er mwyn 
defnyddio'r elw i ariannu tai fforddiadwy. Rydym am weld mwy o dir dros ben sy'n 
eiddo i Lywodraeth Cymru yn cael ei ryddhau a sicrhau bod yr holl dir hwnnw yn cael ei 
ystyried ar gyfer tai fforddiadwy. Ein targed yw rhyddhau o leiaf pedwar safle arall ar 
gyfer tai fforddiadwy yn 2011/12, yn ogystal â gweithio gydag Awdurdodau Lleol, y 
Comisiwn Coedwigaeth, a'r Eglwys yng Nghymru, er enghraifft, er mwyn ceisio mwy o 
dir ar gyfer tai fforddiadwy.  

 

Tudalen 40



19. Yn sgil sefydlu Partneriaeth Tai Cymru yn ddiweddar, darperir mwy o dai rhent 
canolradd. Mae'r prosiect £16 miliwn yn cael ei ariannu drwy gyfuniad o £3 miliwn o 
arian grant gan Lywodraeth Cymru, benthyciad o £12 miliwn gan Is-adran Masnachol 
Cymdeithas Adeiladu'r Principality a £1 miliwn ar y cyd oddi wrth y pedair cymdeithas 
dai sy’n cymryd rhan. Mae'r bartneriaeth hon yn enghraifft o gydweithio i rannu 
gwybodaeth, profiadau a risg ond, yn bwysicach oll, i ddarparu tua 150 o dai 
fforddiadwy o ansawdd i bobl sy'n byw yng Nghymru. 

 
20. Mae rhai awdurdodau lleol yng Nghymru yn ymchwilio unwaith yn rhagor i gynnig 

morgeisi i breswylwyr drwy Gynlluniau Morgais yr Awdurdodau Lleol (LAMS). Mae'r 
cynllun yn cael ei gynnal gan yr awdurdodau lleol sy’n cymryd rhan ar gyfer ymgeiswyr 
sy'n gallu fforddio talu am forgais, ond nad ydynt yn gallu talu'r blaendal, sef 25% fel 
arfer. Yr awdurdodau lleol fydd yn penderfynu a fyddant yn cymryd rhan yn LAMS, yn 
ogystal â phennu pa fenthycwyr a fyddai'n gweithredu eu cynllun. Mae Llywodraeth 
Cymru, ar y cyd â’r adeiladwyr tai, hefyd yn ymchwilio i ddefnyddio is-gwmni yswiriant, 
a allai, o bosibl, ddarparu i ymgeiswyr forgeisi na fyddai’n galw am flaendal mor fawr. 

 
21. Mae modelau tir arloesol hefyd yn cael eu datblygu ar hyn o bryd i gynyddu nifer y tai 

fforddiadwy yng Nghymru gan ddefnyddio tir fel cymhorthdal posibl. Mae consortiwm o 
sefydliadau yn gweithio ar fodel newydd i ddefnyddio tir RSL posibl, er enghraifft, i 
gynyddu'r cyflenwad, yn ogystal â modelau posibl eraill sy'n cael eu datblygu.   

 
22. Mae tai yn rhan annatod o adfywio; mae’n faes â ganddo botensial sylweddol i adfywio. 

Yn y sector tai, rydym yn gweld buddsoddi sy'n trawsnewid cymunedau ac yn creu 
swyddi newydd. Mae tai gwell yn arwain at iechyd gwell a mwy o gefnogaeth i'r bobl 
sydd fwyaf agored i niwed yn ein cymdeithas. O ganlyniad, mae buddsoddi mewn tai 
yn aml yn cael ei ddefnyddio i drosoli cymhorthdal o feysydd eraill, megis adfywio neu 
dreftadaeth. 

 
23. Fel enghraifft o hyn, rydym wedi gweithio gyda Chyngor Sir Ddinbych i ddatblygu 

uwchgynllun tai i fynd i'r afael â Thai Amlfeddiannaeth (HMO) sy'n achosi anawsterau 
yng ngorllewin y Rhyl. Ar yr un pryd, rydym hefyd yn gweithio'n agos gyda'r awdurdod 
lleol a landlordiaid cymdeithasol cofrestredig lleol i brynu HMO gwag, a HMO sy'n 
dadfeilio, neu nad ydynt yn cyrraedd y safon, er mwyn eu hailddatblygu. Mae mwy na 
60 o eiddo wedi cael eu prynu hyd yma a byddant yn cael eu datblygu drwy'r rhaglen 
Empty to Affordable. 

 
A ydy'r opsiynau ar wahân i gymhorthdal cyhoeddus yn cael eu defnyddio'n llawn? 
 
24. Mae cymdeithasau tai yn gweithio'n agos gydag awdurdodau lleol i ddarparu tai 

fforddiadwy heb gymhorthdal cyhoeddus a chan ddefnyddio eu hadnoddau eu hunain. 
Mae Cartrefi Cymunedol Cymru, sy'n cynrychioli cymdeithasau tai, wedi ymrwymo i 
ddarparu 1500 o dai ychwanegol heb grant dros y pedair blynedd nesaf.   

 
25. Mae opsiynau ariannu eraill yn cael eu hystyried , gan gynnwys defnyddio tir ac 

asedau cyhoeddus fel trosoledd. Fodd bynnag, nid yw'r arian bob amser yn gweithio yn 
achos tai cymdeithasol traddodiadol, yn bennaf gan fod angen i rhenti aros ar lefel 
benodol, ac mae hynny'n anodd heb gymhorthdal. Yn gyffredinol, mae'n haws 
defnyddio opsiynau newydd nad ydynt yn derbyn cymhorthdal ar gyfer mathau eraill o 
dai fforddiadwy.  Fodd bynnag, mae cytundebau Adran 106 yn darparu rhywfaint o dai 

Tudalen 41



fforddiadwy ar safleoedd tir sy'n destun gofynion cynlluniau datblygu awdurdodau lleol 
unigol, ac ar hyfywedd y cynllun. 

 
26. Mae tua 12-14% o'r cyflenwad tai yn perthyn i'r sector rhentu preifat (PRS), ac mae'r 

sector hwn yn darparu tua 136,000 o gartrefi i bobl ledled Cymru. Mae PRS cadarn, 
sy'n cynnig llety o ansawdd, yn rhan hanfodol o farchnad dai sy'n gweithredu'n dda. 
Yng Nghymru, mae'r PRS yn chwarae rôl hanfodol i gefnogi symudedd economaidd, 
gan gynnig hyblygrwydd a dewis i'r rheini sy'n penderfynu peidio â pherchen tŷ. Mae 
hefyd yn darparu tai i lawer o'r bobl fwyaf agored i niwed yn ein cymdeithas.  

 
27. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi ymrwymo i ddatblygu a chynnal PRS yng Nghymru sy’n 

cynnig tai sy'n cael eu rheoli'n dda, ac sydd mewn cyflwr da. I wireddu'r uchelgais hon, 
mae'n bosibl y bydd angen mwy o reoleiddio. Ar hyn o bryd, rydym yn ystyried pa 
ddeddfwriaeth ychwanegol a allai fod yn berthnasol i'r sector. 

 
A ydy Llywodraeth Cymru, awdurdodau lleol a Landlordiaid Cofrestredig 
Cymdeithasol (RSL) yn defnyddio eu pwerau'n effeithiol i gynyddu'r cyflenwad o dai 
fforddiadwy, yn ogystal â sicrhau bod modd i fwy o bobl gael mynediad atynt? 
 
28. Ar hyn o bryd, mae RSL yn defnyddio eu hasedau i ryddhau adnoddau i gynyddu'r 

cyflenwad o dai fforddiadwy ac mae Cartrefi Cymunedol Cymru yn arwain ar waith i 
barhau i ymchwilio i opsiynau ariannu newydd ar gyfer darparu mwy o dai fforddiadwy. 
Mae rhai RSL hefyd wedi defnyddio'r sector rhentu preifat i ddarparu mwy o lety i 
fodloni'r angen o ran tai. Fodd bynnag, yn sgil y newidiadau i fudd-daliadau lles, mae 
hyfywedd yr opsiwn hwn yn fwy dyrys erbyn hyn.  

29. Rydym yn sylweddoli bod mynd i'r afael ag eiddo gwag yn cynnig cyfle mawr i ddarparu 
mwy o dai fforddiadwy. Yn ôl data a gasglwyd ar gyfer Dangosyddion Cenedlaethol 
Strategol 2010-11, roedd 21,970 o anheddau’r sector preifat wedi bod yn wag am fwy 
na 6 mis ar 1 Ebrill 2010.  O'r cyfanswm hwn, roedd 954 wedi dechrau cael eu 
hailddefnyddio yn ystod y flwyddyn yn sgil camau uniongyrchol a gymerwyd gan yr 
awdurdodau lleol. Mae hwn yn un o'n ymrwymiadau ein Maniffesto, ac rwy'n 
benderfynol o fynd i'r afael ag ef. Dengys trafodaethau gydag awdurdodau lleol mai’r 
mater yw defnyddio'r pwerau, ac nid argaeledd y pwerau. At hynny, ymddengys mai 
arian a sgiliau yw'r prif feini tramgwydd. Ar hyn o bryd, rwy'n cydweithio â'r sector tai i 
roi menter newydd ar waith i fynd i'r afael â phroblemau ag eiddo sydd wedi bod yn 
wag am gyfnod hirdymor. Fel rhan o'r fenter hon, mae'n bosibl y caiff cynllun 
benthyciadau penodedig ei sefydlu i ddarparu mwy o gyllid y gellid ei ailddefnyddio i 
awdurdodau lleol.  

30. Rwy'n dal i weithio i ryddhau Cymru o'r trefniadau cyfredol mewn perthynas â system 
Cymhorthdal y Refeniw Cyfrif Tai (HRAS), a fydd yn rhoi mwy o hyblygrwydd i 
awdurdodau lleol i ddatblygu tai fforddiadwy. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cydweithio'n 
agos hefyd â Chyngor Sir Gaerfyrddin i ddatblygu cytundeb peilot a fyddai'n galluogi'r 
awdurdod i eithrio datblygiad newydd o fyngalos o'r HRAS. Ar ôl cael Cytundeb, byddai 
hyn yn caniatáu i'r awdurdod gadw'r holl incwm a geir o rentu. Ym mis Rhagfyr 2009, 
dechreuwyd ar y gwaith o gynnal adolygiad llawn o'r HRAS, ac mae trafodaethau yn 
parhau â Thrysorlys EM. 

 

Tudalen 42



31. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi darparu fframwaith polisi cadarn ar gyfer cyflenwi tai 
fforddiadwy drwy'r system gynllunio. Caiff ei amlinellu ym Mholisi Cynllunio Cymru, a 
ategir gan Nodiadau Cyngor Technegol (TAN) 1 a 2 'Tai' - Cyd-astudiaethau Argaeledd 
Tir ar gyfer Tai a Cynllunio a Thai Fforddiadwy.  Fel rhan o'r sylfaen dystiolaeth ar gyfer 
cynlluniau datblygu lleol, dylai awdurdodau lleol asesu'r angen am bob math o dai, gan 
gynnwys tai ar gyfer y farchnad a thai fforddiadwy.  

 
32. Mae yna gyfle i adolygu gwasanaethau tai eraill i chwilio am gyfleoedd i weithio yn 

rhanbarthol a/neu ar y cyd, ac mae ystod eang o feysydd posibl wedi'u nodi, gan 
gynnwys: rheoli cartrefi gwag, partneriaethau cofrestri tai cyffredin rhanbarthol a 
datblygu cynlluniau benthyg rhanbarthol. Rydym yn gweithio gyda Chymdeithas 
Llywodraeth Leol Cymru (CLlLC) i flaenoriaethu'r meysydd allweddol ar gyfer gweithio 
yn rhanbarthol a chynhyrchu cynllun gweithredu erbyn mis Mawrth 2012. 

 
A oes digon o gydweithio rhwng awdurdodau lleol, Landlordiaid Cymdeithasol 
Cofrestredig (RSL), sefydliadau ariannol a chwmnïau adeiladau tai? 
 
 
33. Mae llawer o gydweithio yn digwydd ar draws y sector ac mae rhai prosiectau rhagorol 

yn cael eu datblygu mewn partneriaeth. Mae Partneriaeth Tai Cymru yn enghraifft 
ragorol o hyn. Fodd bynnag, nid ydym am orffwys ar ein rhwyfau, ac wrth i'r galw am 
dai fforddiadwy barhau i gynyddu, bydd rhaid inni wneud mwy gyda'n gilydd.  

 
34. Rwy'n awyddus i ymchwilio i weld sut y gall agenda’r awdurdodau lleol o ran cydweithio 

fod o fudd i'r maes tai. Mae'n amlwg ym mha feysydd y gallai hyn fod yn llwyddiannus 
yn achos tai fforddiadwy: cydweithio ar eiddo gwag, er enghraifft. Rwyf wedi cael 
trafodaethau cynhyrchiol iawn â CLlLC ar sut i ddatblygu'r agenda gydweithredol, a 
hyderaf, erbyn y gwanwyn, y bydd gennym fframwaith yn ei le a fydd yn amlinellu sut y 
byddwn yn gwneud hyn.   

 
35. Rwy'n meddwl y gallwn wneud mwy hefyd o ran adeiladwyr cartrefi preifat ac rwyf wedi 

sefydlu grŵp llywio'r sector preifat i ymchwilio i sut y gallem chwalu’r rhwystrau sy’n ein 
hatal rhag cynyddu'r cyflenwad tai yn gyffredinol. Mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cymryd 
amryw o gamau i gefnogi'r diwydiant adeiladu tai drwy'r dirwasgiad yn ystod y 
blynyddoedd diwethaf. Er enghraifft, rydym wedi caniatáu i RSL brynu safleoedd y 
sector preifat lle mae gwaith wedi'i atal, ac rydym wedi cefnogi swyddi a hyfforddiant 
drwy ddatblygu RSL newydd. Mae'r toriadau enfawr i'n cyllid cyfalaf yn golygu nad yw'n 
bosibl dilyn yr un dull erbyn hyn. Mae'r diffyg cyllid hefyd yn codi rhai materion pwysig 
ynghylch lle y dylech ganolbwyntio ar ddefnyddio'r adnoddau prin.  

 
36. Rydym yn cydweithio'n agos â Chyngor y Benthycwyr Morgeisi, CLlLC, Cartrefi 

Cymunedol Cymru ac Awdurdodau Cynllunio Lleol (LPA) i ddarparu canllawiau ar 
faterion cytundebau Adran 106 sy'n rhwym wrth ganiatadau cynllunio sy'n cyfyngu ar 
fforddiadwyedd ac ar feddiannaeth. Rydym yn ymwybodol bod rhai cyfyngiadau yn ei 
gwneud hi'n anodd cael mynediad at forgeisi ac mae grŵp gorchwyl a gorffen wedi 
drafftio canllawiau a safonau gofynnol i'w defnyddio gan LPA.   

 
37. Mae'r RSL a'r awdurdodau lleol yn cydweithio'n agos i fynd i'r afael â'r nifer cynyddol o 

bobl ddigartref a mynd i'r afael ag effaith diwygio budd-daliadau lles. Rydym yn 
sylweddoli bod y newidiadau eisoes yn cael effaith negyddol.  

Tudalen 43



 
 
A allai Llywodraeth Cymru hyrwyddo dulliau arloesol o gyflenwi tai fforddiadwy, 
megis Ymddiriedolaethau Tir Cymunedol (CLT) neu gwmnïau cydweithredol, yn fwy 
effeithiol?  
 
38. Rydym yn bwrw ymlaen â'r gwaith o ymchwilio i ddulliau arloesol o adeiladu tai 

ychwanegol drwy edrych ar wahanol ffyrdd o gael cyllid a defnyddio tir mewn modd 
creadigol. Mae gwaith wedi cychwyn eisoes i edrych ar ffyrdd y gallwn ni ddatblygu 
mathau cydweithredol o dai yng Nghymru fel opsiwn hyfyw a fydd yn caniatáu i bobl 
gael mynediad at dai fforddiadwy. Rydym wedi galw arbenigwyr ar dai ac ar 
gydweithredu ynghyd i edrych ar ddulliau ariannu a mesurau llwyddiant ar gyfer 
modelau cydweithredol yn ogystal â datblygu amryw o brosiectau peilot.  

 
39. Rydym wedi cymryd rhan weithredol i hyrwyddo gweithgarwch CLT yng Nghymru, ac 

rydym wedi ymgysylltu â'r mudiad CLT i fod yn rhan o'r dull cydweithredol ehangach o 
ran tai yr ydym yn ei ystyried ar hyn o bryd. Wrth i waith fynd rhagddo i ddatblygu 
cynnyrch arloesol newydd, megis CLT neu gwmnïau cydweithredol, os nodir rhwystrau 
y gellid eu dileu drwy ddeddfwriaeth newydd, gellid ystyried cynnwys hyn yn y Bil Tai.  

 
Y Camau Nesaf/Casgliadau  
 
40. Mae llawer iawn o waith yn mynd rhagddo i gynyddu'r cyflenwad o dai fforddiadwy yng 

Nghymru, gan ddatblygu ar y sylfaen gadarn a ddarparwyd gan Adroddiad Essex yn 
2008. Mae canlyniadau'r gwaith hwnnw yn cynnwys:  

 
• datblygu Partneriaeth Tai Cymru i ddarparu mwy o dai fforddiadwy canolradd  
• cyflenwi mwy na 9,000 o dai newydd yn erbyn y targed o 6,500 
• cynnal adolygiad o'r drefn rhentu i'w gwneud yn decach 
• cynnal adolygiad o'r system HRAS i roi setliad ariannol tecach i awdurdodau lleol 

Cymru, a rhoi mwy o hyblygrwydd iddynt wneud mwy i fodloni anghenion tai eu 
hardal. 

 
41. Serch hynny, mae angen gwneud mwy i helpu i gynyddu'r cyflenwad, ac ni fydd hyn yn 

hawdd yn sgil y setliad ariannol anodd sy'n ein hwynebu. Ni fydd yn bosibl gwneud 
popeth heb orfod rhannu adnoddau gymaint fel na fydd llawer o effaith. O ganlyniad, 
bydd rhaid penderfynu sut a lle y byddwn yn defnyddio'r adnoddau prin.   

 
42. Bydd gwaith gyda'r sector i ddatblygu Papur Gwyn ar Dai ar gyfer gwanwyn 2012 yn 

cynnig cyfle i ymchwilio i'r hyn sydd angen ei wneud a dod o hyd i atebion newydd 
posibl. Os bydd angen, rwy'n barod i achub ar y cyfle a ddaw yn sgil cyflwyno Bil Tai i 
wneud mwy.   

 
43. Edrychaf ymlaen at glywed barn y Pwyllgor, a fydd o gymorth i lywio ein syniadau dros 

y misoedd sydd i ddod.    
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 44



 
 

Tudalen 45



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 5Eitem 3

Tudalen 46



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 5

Tudalen 47



Leighton Andrews AC / AM
Y Gweinidog Addysg a Sgiliau
Minister for Education and Skills

Ann Jones
Cadeirydd 
Y Pwyllgor Cymunedau, 
Cydraddoldeb a Llywodraeth Leol
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Bae Caerdydd
Cerdydd
CF99 1NA

Annwyl Ann,
Sgrinio’r Gymraeg

Yn ystod f’ymddangosiad gerbron y Pwyllgor Cymunedau, Cydraddoldeb a 
Llywodraeth Leol ar 19 Hydref fe gytunais i ddarparu nodyn ynglŷn â sgrinio’r 
Gymraeg o fewn yr Adran Addysg a Sgiliau ac o fewn portffolios Gweinidogion eraill.

Mae Llywodraeth Cymru’n cymryd o ddifrif ei gyfrifoldeb yng nghyswllt hyrwyddo'r 
defnydd o'r Gymraeg. Caiff hyn ei adlewyrchu yn ein cynllun iaith, a gymeradwywyd 
gan Fwrdd yr Iaith Gymraeg ym mis Mawrth 2011, sy'n ymrwymo'r Llywodraeth i 
sicrhau bod ei pholisïau’n cefnogi a hwyluso'r defnydd o'r Gymraeg - ac yn helpu'r 
cyhoedd yng Nghymru i ddefnyddio'r Gymraeg fel rhan naturiol o'u bywydau, pryd 
bynnag y bo modd.

Adeiladwyd ar yr ymrwymiad hwn drwy integreiddio holiadur sgrinio am y Gymraeg i 
mewn i broses datblygu polisi Llywodraeth Cymru. Mae'r broses datblygu polisi 
hwnnw’n ceisio sicrhau:

• bod ein polisïau yn cefnogi datblygu cynaliadwy, gan ystyried cydraddoldeb, 
cynhwysiad cymdeithasol a’n themâu trawsbynciol o adfywio, anactifedd 
economaidd / sgiliau, plant a phobl ifanc, tlodi plant, gwella iechyd a lleihau 
anghydraddoldebau iechyd 

•  bod polisïau yn cael eu hintegreiddio a’u cyd gysylltu ar draws pob adran

• bod modd cyflawni pob polisi, a'u bod yn cynnig gwerth am arian

• cydlyniad â pholisïau, strategaethau a chynlluniau allweddol eraill.

Mae'r broses datblygu polisi yn cael ei ddefnyddio gan holl adrannau'r Llywodraeth, 
gan gynnwys yr Adran Addysg a Sgiliau, wrth iddynt ddatblygu polisïau.

Ein cyf/Our ref SF/LA/6200/11

09 Tachwedd 2011

CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 6 

Tudalen 48



Yn ogystal, mae angen i bob Cyfarwyddiaeth o fewn y Llywodraeth baratoi, a 
diweddaru’n gyson, Cynllun Gweithredu Iaith Gymraeg, yn unol â'n cynllun iaith. Mae'r 
cynlluniau’n cyfeirio at bolisïau sydd i’w datblygu gan bob Cyfarwyddiaeth, gan 
adlewyrchu’r ymrwymiad yn y cynllun iaith i ystyried effaith y polisïau hynny ar y 
Gymraeg. Fel rhan o'r cylch o adrodd yn flynyddol ar ein gwaith er lles y Gymraeg, 
mae pob Cyfarwyddiaeth yn adrodd ar y graddau y bu iddynt ystyried yr iaith wrth 
iddynt ddatblygu polisïau.

Mae'r holiadur iaith a’r broses o baratoi Cynllun Gweithredu Iaith Gymraeg yn cynnig 
proses penodol er mwyn sgrinio’r Gymraeg. Mae’r broses yn wahanol i, ac ar wahân i, 
y broses sgrinio cyfleodd cyfartal o fewn y Llywodraeth. Yng nghyswllt asesu effaith ar 
gyfleodd cyfartal, mae swyddogion Llywodraeth Cymru’n defnyddio’r teclyn Llunio 
Polisïau mewn Modd Cynhwysol wrth gynnal asesiadau effaith ar gyfleodd cyfartal ar 
gyfer holl feysydd cydraddoldeb Deddf Cydraddoldeb 2010 ac wrth ateb gofynion y 
dyletswyddau Cymreig penodol.

Leighton Andrews AC/AM
Y Gweinidog Addysg a Sgiliau
Minister for Education and Skills

CELG(4)-09-11 : Papur 6

Tudalen 49



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 7

Tudalen 50



Tudalen 51



CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 8 
 
 

 
 
Shelter Cymru Survey of Empty Homes by Local Authority Area 
These figures were provided by local authorities and were taken from council 
tax records, showing properties that were empty for six months or more. The 
information provides a snapshot of long-term empty properties taken in July of 
2008 and 2009.  

Authority Area Long Term Empty 
(08/09) 

Long Term Empty 
(09/10) 

Blaenau Gwent 900 Not available 

Bridgend 1,820 855 

Caerphilly 1,074  900 

Cardiff 2,289 1,233 

Carmarthenshire 1,954 1,925 

Ceredigion 597 749 

Conwy 1,050 1,060 

Denbighshire 893 1,115 

Flintshire 868 1,300 

Gwynedd 1,308 1,222 

Isle of Anglesey 716 725 

Merthyr Tydfil 817 716 

Monmouthshire 1,482 444 

Neath Port Talbot 1,248 2,588 

Newport 2,078 1039 

Pembrokeshire 1,000 200 

Powys Not available 506 

Rhondda Cynon Taf 3,000 3,300 

Swansea 1,881 1888 

Torfaen 295 260 

Vale of Glamorgan 817 787 

Wrexham 260 138 

   

Wales 26,407 22,950 

Tudalen 52



C 

  

 

CELG(4)-09-11 : Paper 9 
 

,  
Sir Leigh Lewis KCB 
Commission on a Bill of Rights 
Post point 9.55 
102 Petty France 
London 
SW1H 9AJ 

T:  020 3334 2486 

E:enquiries@commissiononabillofrights.g
si.gov.uk 

www.justice.gov.uk/about/cbr/index.htm 

 
 
 
 
                       14 November 2011 

   

   

 Ann Jones, AM 

Chair of the Communities, Equality and Local 

Government Committee  

National Assembly for Wales 

Ty Hywel 

Cardiff Bay 

Cardiff 

CF99 1NA 

 

 

 

  

Dear Ann 

 

  

 

I am writing to thank you and members of your Committee for meeting me and some 
members of the Commission when we visited Cardiff recently as part of our consultation 
programme.  

 

I am very grateful for the time you gave us. It was extremely helpful to hear your 
Committee’s views on the issues we are addressing as part of our mandate and on the 
particular issues for Wales. 

 

We would welcome any further contributions that you might like to make. The formal 

deadline for responses to our Discussion Paper was 11 November but should you wish 

to make a submission I would be very happy to receive it in the next week or two, either 

by email to responses@commissiononabillofrights.gsi.gov.uk or by post to the 

Commission on the Bill of Rights, Postpoint 9.55, 102 Petty France, London SW1H 9AJ.  

 

In the meantime thank you once again for meeting us. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Sir Leigh Lewis KCB 

Tudalen 53


	Agenda
	2a Y Ffederasiwn Adeiladwyr Cartrefi a'r Sefydliad Cynllunio Trefol Brenhinol
	CELG(4)-09-11(p2) (Saesneg yn unig)

	2b Cymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru
	2c Llywodraeth Cymru
	3 Papurau i'w nodi
	CELG(4)-09-11(p6)
	CELG(4)-09-11(p7) (Saesneg yn unig)
	CELG(4)-09-11(p8) (Saesneg yn unig)
	CELG(4)-09-11(p9) (Saesneg yn unig)


